
 
 

CABINET SUB-COMMITTEE (FTC) 
Agenda 
 

Date Monday 14 December 2020 
 

Time 1.00 pm 
 

Venue Virtual Meeting https://www.oldham.gov.uk/live 
 

Notes 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST- If a Member requires any advice on 
any item involving a possible declaration of interest which could affect 
his/her ability to speak and/or vote he/she is advised to contact Paul 
Entwistle or Sian Waltr-Browne in advance of the meeting. 
 
2. CONTACT OFFICER for this Agenda is Sian Walter-Browne email 
sian.walter-browne@oldham.gov.uk 
  
3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS – Any member of the public wishing to ask a 
question at the above meeting can do so only if a written copy of the 
question is submitted to the Contact officer by 12 Noon on Wednesday, 9 
December 2020. 
 
4.  FILMING - This meeting will be recorded for live and/or subsequent 
broadcast on the Council’s website. The whole of the meeting will be 
recorded, except where there are confidential or exempt items and the 
footage will be on our website. This activity promotes democratic 
engagement in accordance with section 100A(9) of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 
Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law 
including the law of defamation, the Human Rights Act, the Data Protection 
Act and the law on public order offences. 
 

 MEMBERSHIP OF THE CABINET SUB-COMMITTEE (FTC) IS AS 
FOLLOWS: 

 Councillors Brownridge, Fielding and Roberts 
 

Item No  

1   Apologies For Absence  

2   Urgent Business  

 Urgent business, if any, introduced by the Chair 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To Receive Declarations of Interest in any Contract or matter to be discussed at 
the meeting. 

Public Document Pack

https://www.oldham.gov.uk/live
mailto:sian.walter-browne@oldham.gov.uk


 
 

4   Public Question Time  

 To receive Questions from the Public, in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

5   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 4) 

 The Minutes of the meeting held on 21st February 2019 are attached for 
approval. 

6   Lower Memorial Park Failsworth (Pages 5 - 50) 

 



 

CABINET SUB-COMMITTEE (FTC) 
21/02/2019 at 4.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillor Fielding (Chair)  
Councillors Roberts and Shah 
 

 Also in Attendance: 
 Ben Hill Principal Regeneration Officer 
 Elizabeth Cunningham-Doyle Solicitor 
 Sian Walter-Browne Constitutional Services 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

There were no apologies for absence received. 

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

There were no declarations of interest received. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

Four public questions were received from Mr David Eyers, Chair 
of the Moston Brook Friends Group:- 
 

1. On behalf of the Moston Brook Friends Group we would 
like to ask about the safety of the soil deposited on Trust 
land. All local residents are aware that the Lancaster Club 
site was a previous tipped site & will therefore be 
considered to be contaminated land. We would like 
formal reassurances & confirmation on the safety of the 
soil that has been deposited in a public space.  
 
Councillor Fielding responded that the soil deposited on 
the land held in trust was top soil from the football pitches 
– it was not landfill or contaminated land. Independent 
soil sampling would be commissioned to be completed by 
an approved company and the results would be verified 
by the Council’s land contamination officer. There was 
small amount of material from the installation of the outlet 
pipe which Bellway would be removing from site.   

 
2. We would like to ask about the community consultation. 

The MB Friends group & other site users want to have 
every opportunity to be involved & publicise the 
consultation. Who will be leading the consultation & can 
we be given reassurances on full involvement of the 
community?   
 
Councillor Fielding replied that representatives of the 
Council on behalf of the Trustees would be leading on the 
consultation. This would include the Moston Brook 
Project Officer, officers from Regeneration and the 
District Co-ordinator. All consultation events would be 
advertised and recorded. There would be full involvement Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

from the community and the Friends Group and other 
local interest groups would be very much welcomed to be 
fully involved. 

 
3. As representative of the MB Friends group during early 

discussions we requested that the land for the basin 
revert to Oldham Council & the former GOALS site be 
swapped & passed to FTC. Can this be considered as 
part of the consultation.   
 
Councillor Fielding replied that this proposal was set out 
in the report and was a matter for the Trustees to 
consider at the meeting of the Executive Sub-Committee. 

 
4. We would like to have formal representation on the FTC. 

Can this be considered?   
 
Councillor Fielding responded that the Lower Memorial 
Park Trust was managed through the Cabinet Sub-
Committee and the Moston Brook Friends Group could 
make representations to the Committee at each meeting. 
The Friends Group could also provide independent 
advice to the Trustees for their consideration. 
 

5   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING   

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 17th 
September 2018 be approved as a correct record. 
 

6   LOWER MEMORIAL PARK FAILSWORTH   

The Sub-Committee gave consideration to a report of the 
Principal Regeneration Officer which requested it, acting in its 
capacity as charitable trustee, to make resolutions to regularise 
the procedural steps taken regarding works to the Lower 
Memorial Park Failsworth.     
 
The Sub-Committee was informed that, as part of the 
development of the Lancaster Club, Bellway Homes had 
constructed a drainage attenuation basin and relocated top soil 
on part of the adjoining Lower Memorial Park Trust/Centenary 
Fields land. A complaint had been received from a member of 
the Friends of Moston Brook group concerning the works taking 
place and the condition of the land as a result of the works.  
 
In September 2018, the Trustees authorised officers to inform 
the Charity Commission of the serious incident and obtain 
professional independent advice on the dis-amenity and 
appropriate compensation resulting from the works.    
 
The Charity Commission had confirmed that they were confident 
that Trustees had taken the correct steps in reporting the 
incident to the Commission and that following the 
recommendations of the independent examiner’s report would 
represent appropriate handling of the case moving forward. 
Further advice was given that the Trust should consider a Page 2



 

consultation exercise to allow public representation on the future 
of the park. The expectation was that the Trustees should follow 
the advice. 
 
The independent report did not suggest that there should be 
monetary compensation for any loss of amenity to the trust, but 
the landscape architect had made recommendations with 
regards to the remediation of the land and the safety of the 
attenuation basin. The independent landscape architect was of 
the opinion that the ground was capable of fulfilling recreational 
purposes.  
 
A meeting had taken place with the former Leader and 
representatives from the Friends Group in April 2018 where they 
had requested that the land previously allocated as a Goals! 
Soccer Centre located between the Memorial Trust land, the 
Lancaster Club, Broadway and the new allotments should be 
gifted to and thus become part of the Charity Land. This was not 
a recommendation of the Independent landscape Architect, 
however the Trustees were asked to consider the option as part 
of the consultation exercise.  
 
Options/Alternatives considered:- 
Option1 – Follow the advice from the independent landscape 
architect and the Charity Commission. 
Option 2 – Do not follow the advice from the independent 
landscape architect and the Charity Commission. 
 
RESOLVED that: 

1. The dialogue with the Charity Commission be noted and 
the disclosure be authorised of the decision of the Charity 
Commission as and when required. 

2. The contents of the independent architect’s amenity 
report be noted and the disclosure be authorised of the 
report and consultation with the Friends Group and local 
residents and wider members of the public on the 
following: 

 The recommendations in the independent 
landscape architect’s report listed in paragraph 2.3 
of the report, and  

 The proposal to transfer additional land to the 
charitable trust for the Lower Memorial Park 
Failsworth. 

 
The meeting started at 4.00 pm and ended at 4.20 pm 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
To report on the key findings of the consultation exercise at the Lower Memorial Park 
Failsworth requested by the Trustees. 
 
Executive Summary 
 
In February 2019, pursuant to a mandated instruction from the Charity Commission, the 
Trustees requested officers to carry out  a consultation exercise on their behalf to consider 
the landscaping proposals put forward by Bellway Homes Ltd and the findings and 
recommendations of a Charity Land report on the Trust land.  
:  

 to mitigate the loss of amenity of the deposit of soil on the Lower Failsworth 
Memorial Land;  

 to consider options for the attenuation basin; 

 to consult on the future use of the park; and  

 to consult on a proposal for the Council to gift additional land, adjacent to the 
Memorial Park, to the charitable trust.   

 
The officers have carried out the consultation exercise and the narrative in the body of this 
report informs the Trustees of the outcome of the consultation process. 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Trustees are requested to: 
 

- Note the outcome of the consultation;  
- Consider the Options set out in Section 3; and  
- Instruct officers of the council accordingly.   

 
 
 

Report to Cabinet Sub Committee Acting as Trustees for 
Lower Memorial Park Failsworth 

 
Lower Memorial Park Failsworth 
 

Trustees:  Cllr Fielding, Cllr Roberts and Cllr Shah  
 
Officer Contact:  Emma Barton – Director of Economy  
 
Report Author: Ben Hill – Principal Regeneration Officer  
Ext. 5261 
 
Date:  14th December 2020 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



 

  2 

Cabinet Sub Committee Acting as Trustees for Lower Memorial Park, Failsworth 
  
 
1 Background 

 

1.1 In February 2019, the Trustees resolved that consultation be carried out to 
seek the views of residents and stakeholders of the findings and 
recommendations of a Charity Land report on the Trust land and landscape 
proposals put forward by Bellway Homes. The consultation was also required 
to consider options for the use of the adjacent area of land which currently 
belongs to Oldham Council and suggestions for the future use of the Park in 
general.   

 
1.2 A full copy of the report and minutes can be found at Appendix 1.  The Trustees 

resolved that: 
 

1. The dialogue with the Charity Commission be noted and the disclosure be 
authorised of the decision of the Charity Commission as and when required. 

2. The contents of the independent architects’ s amenity report be noted and 
the disclosure be authorised of the report and consultation with the Friends 
Group and local residents and wider members of the public on the 
following: 

 The recommendations in the independent landscape architects report 
listed in paragraph 2.3 of the report, and 

 The proposal to transfer additional land to the charitable trust for the 
Lower Memorial Park Failsworth. 

 
1.3 A summary of the independent landscape architects reports main findings are: 
 

o The spreading of the topsoil over the land does not alter the openness of the 
land, nor does it prevent the land from functioning as part of the park in a 
similar manner as it has done in the past. 

o The topsoil areas should be re-profiled to feather down the edges of the 
mound to better blend this into the existing topography of the land. 

o This work should be included into the final landscape remediation works for 
all the area and seeded/planted accordingly to return the land to a semi 
natural state. 

o The drain connections, easements and topsoil mounding will not prevent 
access as enjoyed prior to the work commencing. 

o The key route ways through the site will be unaffected and the wider works 
and land swap have enabled improvements to this path network.   

o Following the completion of the works the area of land covered by topsoil 
and attenuation pond will be returned to a state and landscaped so as to play 
a full role in maintaining the local value of the wider park and Moston Brook 
corridor.  

o The benefits and dis-benefits of fencing off the attenuation area with a 
timber post and rail fence should be considered, or other landscaping 
could be considered to create a natural barrier.   

 
1.4 As the proposals were developed, there were several delays as the landscaping 

plans were amended and improved to provide a comprehensive response to the 
issues set out above. The consultation was then further affected by the lockdown 

Page 6



 

  3 

period associated with the coronavirus pandemic: however with emerging 
legislation a safe consultation exercise was confirmed and deployed.  

  
1.5 The consultation specifically sought views on: 
 

A. Landscape proposals for a site within Lower Failsworth Memorial Land 

edged red at Appendix 2. 

 

The consultation sought to inform residents and stakeholders of the findings 

and recommendations of a Charity Land Report on the Trust land and the 

landscaping proposals put forward by Bellway Homes.  Bellway Homes were 

granted planning permission by Oldham Council and the Trustees to construct 

an attenuation drainage basin on the Trust land to collect excess surface water 

from the residential estate of Lancaster Gardens. The land levels on the Trust 

land have been altered due to deposition of soil from the former sports pitches 

of the Lancaster Club. The report considered these issues and views were 

sought on landscaping and safety 

 

B. Options for the future use and ownership of the adjacent area of land 

edged blue at Appendix 2 which currently belongs to Oldham Council.  

 

The future ownership of the adjacent land fronting Broadway has been 

considered by the Failsworth Trustees and Oldham Council and formed part of 

the consultation 

 

C. The Trustees also sought views and ideas on how the Memorial Land & 

Park can be used and developed in the future. 

 
A copy of the questionnaire can be found at Appendix 3. 
 
1.6 The consultation commenced on Wednesday 16th September 2020 and closed on 

10th October 2020.  A site visit, opportunity to look at the landscape plans and 

proposals and discuss matters with staff took place on Saturday 3rd October.   This 

was held by pre-booked appointments only to be compliant with Covid-19 rules and 

restrictions.   

 

1.7 Around 500 letters with an online link to the questionnaire were hand delivered to 

households living near the park including residents at Lancaster Gardens, Park 

Avenue, Broadway, Mather Street, Dalton St, Dean St and Ward Street.   

 

1.8 Information was circulated on Facebook and local groups and stakeholders were 

informed directly.  These included Moston Brook Friends Group, volunteers, Moston 

Brook Partnership & contacts on the Moston Brook email database; Park users at 

Lower Memorial Park including bowling clubs; Broadway allotment members; 

Failsworth & Hollinwood District Team; and Ward Members.   

 

 

 

 

Page 7



 

  4 

2 Current Position 
 

2.1 Response rates and feedback were high with 99 questionnaires being completed 
via Survey Monkey and 30 completed paper questionnaires returned.  16 people 
attended the event on 3rd October, despite the horrendous weather conditions.   

 
2.2 The findings have been carefully analysed by officers and the key findings and 

recommendations are as follows: 
 

 The landscaping proposals were supported by 38 out of 92 respondents 
however 21 responses thought they were poor/inadequate or not good 
enough. 
 
A sample of responses included: 
‘Very positive proposals that will be a big improvement to the area’ 
‘I like the sound of a wildflower meadow.  Much better than I expected’ 
‘’Look manufactured rather than part of the surrounding scenery’ 
‘Very basic’  
‘Could go further’ 
‘Wrong’ 
 

 Better footpaths/accessibility (20/108) and improvements to planting proposals 
& more trees (17/108) were identified as suggestions to improve the 
landscaped area.    
Comments included: 
‘There needs to be discussions with the Trust, Moston Brook Project and 
partners with input of relevant expertise on the most suitable treatment and 
management of the area of deposited topsoil’ 
‘Good quality enduring paths giving access to all who want to enjoy the natural 
beauty of the area’ 
‘Trees and plants that support wildlife (in keeping with Moston Brook). 
 

 111 wanted the area along Broadway to become part of the Trust and 18 did 
not. 
 

 Half of respondents (59/119) wanted this area to remain as a naturalised area. 
Access improvements to the park were identified (13/119). 19 wanted it to be 
used for housing. 

 
Comments included: 
‘Used for free family and community events.  More investment.  More 
protection. More nature.  More wildlife.  Bird houses, Insect hotels.  Hedgehog 
sanctuary’. 
‘More housing, ideally family or affordable’. 
‘It should protect it from development and prevent Memorial Land from being 
‘boxed in’.  Access should be created from Broadway to further open up the 
Land visually and practically, and all-weather paths installed to connect it to 
the rest of the Memorial Land’. 
 

 61 out of 154 responses wanted some type of barrier around the attenuation 
basis. 34 also requested safety/warning signage.   
 

Page 8



 

  5 

Comments included: 
‘Natural barriers of left as it is with lots of reeds and water planting to 
determine soft borders to the edges.  Signs also.’ 
‘Kept as natural as possible while being safe.’ 
‘The basin should be safe for the public with natural barriers and safety signs.’ 
 

 Common themes which were raised for the future of the park included better 
quality/more footpaths, improved access points to the park, more benches and 
bins and better signage and information on the land. 
 
Comments included: 
‘Better footpath links and recreation opportunities for youngsters.’ 
‘We need to do everything we can to preserve these open spaces for our 
communities and the local wildlife.’ 
‘To be kept as green space and protected.’ 
‘Some benches/seating around the area. Information about the land and 
examples of wildlife that may be seen in the area, on boards or leaflets 
perhaps.’   
‘The area is dead land which needs renovation, it looks awful! More family 
housing is a must’. 
‘Grateful for the community events and volunteers who fight for us’. 
‘Would be good to have better access from Broadway’ 
 

 Overall, the consultation response rate showed that the formal park is well 
loved and appreciated by residents with 48/80 requesting that the formal park 
is kept as it is/requires no further changes. 

 
A full summary of the consultation responses can be seen at Appendix 4.     

 
 
3 Options 
 
3.1 Options for Landscaping and Future Works 
 

Option 1a – Complete the landscaping and works to the attenuation basin to 
include signage and naturally created barriers as soon as possible. Request 
that as further proposals on the future of the park are developed they include 
new and improved pathways and access points into the park, more benches 
and bins be provided and include improved signage and information on the 
land.  

 
 Option 1b – Do not carry out the landscaping and works to the attenuation 

basin and leave the area as it is.  
 
3.2 Options for Additional Land 
 
 Option 2a - Request the Council to transfer the land adjacent to Broadway 

(classified as Other Protected Open Land (OPOL) in Planning terms) into the 
Trusts remit.   This option would require a formal approval/decision from the 
Council. 

 

Page 9



 

  6 

 Option 2b – For the additional land to remain in the ownership and control of 
Oldham Council. 

 
 
4 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  Any future 

decisions will require further financial scrutiny and comments.                    (Jit Kara) 
 
 
5 Legal Services Comments 

 

5.1  In February 2019, pursuant to a mandated instruction  from the Charity Commission, 
the Trustees requested officers to carry out  a consultation exercise on their behalf to 
consider the landscaping proposals put forward by Bellway Homes Ltd to mitigate the 
disamenity of the deposit of soil on the Lower Failsworth Memorial Land; to consult 
on the future use of the park and also to consult on a proposal for the Council to gift 
additional land, adjacent to the Memorial Park, to the charitable trust.  The officers 
have carried out the consultation exercise and the narrative in the body of this report 
informs the Trustees of the outcome of the consultation process.  

 
5.2 There has been some delay in carrying out the consultation exercise owing to the 

delay in the delivery of meaningful landscaping proposals by Bellway Homes Ltd and 
the outbreak of the Covid Pandemic which interrupted the planned consultation 
timetable.  The Charity Commission has been kept informed of the reasons for the 
delay and apprised of the recent consultation exercise and awaits the outcome. 

 
5.3 The nature of a public consultation exercise was defined by Lord Woolf MR in R v 

North and East Devon HA ex p Coughlan [1999] where he set out three essential 
features: 

 

 “to be proper, consultation must be undertaken at a time when proposals are still at 
a formative stage; 

 it must include sufficient reasons for particular proposals to allow those consulted to 
give intelligent consideration and an intelligent response; and 

 the product must be conscientiously taken into account when the ultimate decision 
is taken.” 
 

5.4 The Trustees are invited to consider the consultation exercise which was carried out 
in their name and the feedback from the consultees.  They are to have due regard to 
the points of view raised by the local residents and interested parties and as a result, 
make an informed decision having taken into consideration all of the comments 
made.  The full list of comments is appended to this report together with a summary 
of the comments.  Options have been presented to the Trustees for their 
consideration.  However, it is up to the Trustees to decide how they wish to respond 
to the consultation exercise and instruct officers accordingly. 

 
 (Elizabeth Cunningham Doyle) 

 
6. Co-operative Agenda 
 
6.1 Not applicable. 
 

Page 10



 

  7 

7 Human Resources Comments 
 
7.1 Not applicable. 
 
8 Risk Assessments 
 
8.1 Not applicable. 
 
9  IT Implications 
 
9.1 Not applicable.  
 
10 Property Implications 
 
10.1 Outlined above in the body of this report.                                             (Bryn Cooke) 
 
11 Procurement Implications 
 
11.1 Not applicable. 
 
12 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
12.1 Outlined above. 
 
13 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
13.1 Not applicable.  
 
14 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
14.1  No 
 
15 Consultation 
 
15.1 A view has been sought from an independent barrister on the merits of the 

proposal and this will be circulated to Trustees before the meeting.   

          (Ben Hill) 
           
16 Key Decision 
 
16.1 Not applicable.  
 
17 Key Decision Reference 
 
17.1 Not applicable. 
 
18 Appendices  
 
18.1 Appendix 1 – Trustees Report Pack – Feb 2019 

Appendix 2 - Plan of Lower Memorial Park Trust Land and Additional Land  
 Appendix 3 - Copy of Questionnaire 
 Appendix 4 – Summary of Consultation Responses  
 

Page 11



 

  8 

19 Background Papers 
 

  Consultation Responses can be seen by contacting Ben Hill at 
ben.hill@oldham.gov.uk  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12

mailto:ben.hill@oldham.gov.uk


 

  9 

 

Appendix 1 – Trustees Report Pack – Feb 2019 
 
(refer to attached document)  
 
 

Page 13



 

 

Appendix 2 – Plan of Lower Memorial Park Trust Land and Additional Land  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 14



 

  11 

Appendix 3 –  
Questionnaire:  Lower Failsworth Memorial Park and Land Consultation 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Lower Failsworth Memorial Park Trustees want your views…….. 
 
Question 1 (a) What do you think about the landscape proposals?   

 

(b) Do you have any other suggestions for this area? 
 

 
 
 

Question 2 (a)  Do you think the land along Broadway should become part of the Lower Failsworth 
Memorial Park Trust?        Y         N  
Why? 

 

b)  
 
 

b) What would you like to see happen to this land if it does become part of the Trust? 
 

 
 
 

Question 3)  How do you think the Attenuation Basin should be treated?   
(For example the basin could be fenced off, natural barriers using soil could be created, safety 
signs could be erected or it could be left as is.) 

 

 
 
 

Question 4) Are there any other changes you would like to see the Park and Land in the  
future? 

 
 
 
 

Question 5) Do you have any other comments you would like to make about the Park and  
Land? 

 
  
 

 
Please confirm your interest in the site (please circle or underline) 
  
I am an Oldham resident      Y      N 
 
I am a member of a local community group with an interest in the site     Y     N 
 
I am a member of the Moston Brook stakeholder group       Y         N  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



 

  12 

Appendix 4:  Consultation Summary  
 
(refer to attached document)  
 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 16



 
 

 

CABINET SUB-COMMITTEE (FTC) 
Regulatory Committee 
Agenda 
 

Date Thursday 21 February 2019 
 

Time 4.00 pm 
 

Venue Lees Suite, Civic Centre, Oldham, West Street, Oldham, OL1 1NL 
 

Notes 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST- If a Member requires any advice on 
any item involving a possible declaration of interest which could affect 
his/her ability to speak and/or vote he/she is advised to contact Paul 
Entwistle or Sian Walter-Browne in advance of the meeting. 
 
2. CONTACT OFFICER for this Agenda is Sian Walter-Browne Tel. 0161 
770 5151 or email sian.walter-browne@oldham.gov.uk 
 
3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS – Any member of the public wishing to ask a 
question at the above meeting can do so only if a written copy of the 
question is submitted to the Contact officer by 12 Noon on Monday, 18 
February 2019. 
 
4.  FILMING - The Council, members of the public and the press may 
record / film / photograph or broadcast this meeting when the public and 
the press are not lawfully excluded.  Any member of the public who attends 
a meeting and objects to being filmed should advise the Constitutional 
Services Officer who will instruct that they are not included in the filming. 
 
Please note that anyone using recording equipment both audio and visual 
will not be permitted to leave the equipment in the room where a private 
meeting is held. 
 

Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law 

including the law of defamation, the Human Rights Act, the Data Protection 
Act and the law on public order offences. 
 

 MEMBERSHIP OF THE CABINET SUB-COMMITTEE (FTC) IS AS 
FOLLOWS: 

 Councillors Fielding, Roberts and Shah 
 

 

Item No  

6   Lower Memorial Park Failsworth (Pages 1 - 28) 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Page 1

Agenda Item 6

Page 19



Page 2Page 20



Page 3Page 21



Page 4Page 22



Page 5Page 23



Page 6Page 24



Page 7Page 25



Page 8Page 26



Page 9Page 27



Page 10Page 28



Page 11Page 29



Page 12Page 30



Page 13Page 31



Page 14Page 32



 

 

 

 

 

 

CHARITY LAND REPORT 

 

LOWER MEMORIAL PARK 

 

LANDSCAPE AND AMENITY ASSESSMENT 

 

NOVEMBER 2018  

Page 15Page 33



INTRODUCTION 
 
TPM were approached by Oldham Council to prepare a landscape value and amenity report for Lower 
Memorial Park Failsworth.  
The land is held  by the Council  under a charitable trust  run by Oldham Council members. This is land 
set aside for the recreational leisure of local residents with permissive pedestrian access throughout 
with a formal entrance and footpath network running through the site from Broadway down to the 
Moston Brook waterway. 
 
The Council has been a partner in the development of the adjacent site which it sold to Bellway Homes 
Ltd and has facilitated the land allocation for the development site, also arranging for a land swap 
which took odd parcels of land re-arranging ownership to make sense of the final boundaries for the 
housing allocation and recreational space. The land swap comprised of a piece of land from the Lower 
Memorial Park land being swapped with land (in Council Ownership) required for the development of 
the former Lancaster Club site. (see figure 1) 
 
Planning consent was granted by the Council for the development of the former Lancaster  Club site 
to deliver 148 new homes  which included the construction of  an attenuation pond on the charity 
park land as well as permission to run a foul drainage connection across the land. 
 
As part of the development of the former Lancaster Club, Bellway Homes have now constructed a 
drainage attenuation basin and relocated top soil on part of the adjoining Lower Memorial Park 
Trust/Centenary Fields land.  
 
A complaint has been received from a Member of the Friends of Moston Brook group concerning the 
works taking place and the condition of the land as a result of the works.  
 
It is alleged that: 
 
- There have been procedural omissions in relation to the granting of an easement over part of 

the land to include the construction and laying of an attenuation basin and drainage pipes and 
the dumping of top soil from the neighbouring playing field; 

 
- There has been a loss of amenity to the land caused by the aforementioned works and that 

this should be remedied through the gifting of additional land to the Lower Memorial Park; 
 
- There is a concern that members of the local community feel aggrieved with the size of the 

attenuation basin and the placing of the topsoil; 
 
- There is a concern that the attenuation pond as built is unsafe for children. 
 
This report has been conducted by a qualified landscape architect and has been informed by meeting 
with the local authority and contractor and visiting the site and conducting desk top research as 
required. 

 
The report seeks to answer the allegations set against the council / trustees in the following 
way: 
- To consider the baseline landscape position both before and after the land swap and 

planning approval/development; 

Page 16Page 34



 
- To consider the amenity and landscape value of the site before and after the formation 

of the attenuation pond, drainage easements and topsoil spread; and 
 
- To consider what risk the attenuation pond may form for the future users of Moston 

Brook. 
 
BACKGROUND AND PLANNING POSITION 
 
The land over which the attenuation pond and topsoil spread are located falls within land that 
appears to be denoted as Green Corridor and Other Protected Open Land. To the south of 
this lies land which is not designated in the Local Plan and has been allocated for housing 
(currently under construction by Bellway Homes) 
 
The original planning permission for 148 homes was granted as an outline permission which 
indicated the need for a sustainable drainage solution for the site through the creation of an 
attenuation pond. 
 
The reserved matters application dealing with this matter was approved in May 2016 with an 
accompanying drainage plan and sections indicating the location, size and depth of the 
attenuation pond and the proposed drainage connections running to and from this feature. 
A legal granting of easement document was drawn up dated May 2017 which sets out the 
areas that will be maintained to manage this SUDS system for the future (essentially the land 
containing and running above the attenuation pond and drainage pipes enabling access to 
maintain these features once the land has been returned to use as part of the park) see figure 
2. 
 
The proposals for the attenuation pond were accompanied by a landscape and planting 
proposal that will be executed as part of the Bellway Homes development.  
 
CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The proposals for an attenuation pond as part of a SUDS system for the housing site have 
been part of the planning proposals from the outset and have been consulted on as part of 
the normal planning procedure due to such a scheme. As such, both the size, scale and nature 
of this feature were apparent from 2015 when the original outline application was approved 
and then further clarified with regards to detail on the submission and successful approval of 
the reserved matters relating to the attenuation pond, the drainage connections and 
landscape restoration of these areas following their construction. (see figure 3) 
 
Comments concerning this feature in relation to the Lower Memorial Park suggest that there 
was broad agreement that the design of the attenuation pond would bring added habitat 
diversity to the park. 
 

Page 17Page 35



The drainage pipes lie buried beneath the ground and following construction are not visible. 
The easement areas that subsequently are legally provided for in 2017 are a direct 
consequence of the approval of the housing site and the approval of the drainage reserved 
matters. This is necessary to enable the management of these areas remain the responsibility 
of Bellway Homes and do not fall on the trustees of the park. As such, this arrangement is a 
benefit to the park ensuring that this land, although returned to the park as open land with 
some additional ecological benefit, does not incur additional costs to the running of the Lower 
Memorial Park. 
 
The land, when returned to the park and landscaped as the approved drawings (see figure 3) 
will remain as open land and continue to fully comply with the relevant policies that concern 
the land as designated as Other Protected Open Land and Green Corridor. 
 
The spreading of topsoil over the land does not alter the openness of the land, nor does it 
prevent the land from functioning as part of the park in a similar manner as it has done in the 
past. Re-profiling of the topsoil may improve the visual appearance of the area and enable a 
smoother transition from lower areas to those over the mound, this is work that can be easily 
included as part of the final landscape works over this area. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSION 
 
The topsoil areas should be re-profiled to feather down the edges of the mound to better 
blend this into the existing topography of the land. This should be then included into the final 
landscape remediation works for all the area and seeded/planted accordingly to return the 
land to a semi natural state. 
 
The works of and in relation to the attenuation pond and topsoil spread do not lead to any 
conflict with the planning status of the former Lancaster Club site and Lower Memorial Park 
and the land is capable of being returned to the park without any undue financial burden 
arising from either the need to remediate elements of the land or through the need to 
maintain these features in the land in the future. 
 
LANDSCAPE BASELINE – SITE PRIOR TO DEVELOPMENT 
 
The site area for the land held by the Council as charitable trustee of the Lower Memorial 
Park lies to the south of Oldham town centre to the west of Broadway (road) and to the south 
of Moston Brook. 
 
The landscape setting is one in which Moston Brook runs through an urban townscape with 
large sections of the watercourse culverted south of the site towards Manchester and north 
towards Oldham town centre. The Brook runs through a partially wooded valley setting which 
is designated as an open space area by Oldham Council as part of the Moston Brook Green 
Corridor. It also falls within Oldham Council’s other protected open land Policy area which 
seeks to maintain open land that is not designated Green Belt, open or free of development. 
 

Page 18Page 36



PUBLISHED LANDSCAPE ASSESSMENT 
 
Oldham Council has assessed landscapes within their boundaries through a character 
assessment dated 2009. In this Moston Brook and the site are held within an area determined 
as Urban and no further assessment is made. 
 
LOCAL LANDSCAPE 
 
The landscape is a locally valued amenity and wildlife resource providing both natural, semi 
natural and formal areas of recreation space. This is recognised through its status as other 
protected open land and as part of the Green Network and Open Spaces of both Oldham and 
Manchester. 
 
ACCESS 
 
Public access is gained via a formal entrance off Broadway and through the Moston Brook 
land itself via a public footpath that runs from where Moston Brook travels beneath Broadway 
travelling west and south towards the Bellway Homes development. The footpath follows the 
course of the Brook within the lower valley and no formal footpath connections link either 
the new housing development site or the land over which the attenuation pond, drainage 
easements and topsoil spread have occurred. 
 
All other access across the site is via permissive paths which include links through the more 
formally organized recreational space to the north of the attenuation pond and topsoil 
spread. As part of the land swap deal with the Council and the Lower Memorial Park, steps 
have been formed running down from these permissive access areas to the formal right of 
way alongside the Brook. 
 
The site of the attenuation pond and topsoil spread was an area covered in species poor 
modified grassland or marsh grass.  
 
LANDSCAPE VALUE 
 
The Landscape Institutes Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 3rd edition 
(GLIVIA) give, in box 5.1, various factors that may be relevant in the assessment of landscape 
value. 
 
Box 5.1 considers the following factors in assessing whether a landscape is valued: Landscape 
quality/condition/ Scenic Quality; Rarity; Representativeness; Conservation Interests; 
Recreation Value; Perceptual Aspects; and Associations. 
 
In considering whether the works constitute a loss of value to the land one must first consider 
the baseline position from which the land has been taken. 
 

Page 19Page 37



Prior to the development the land comprised open land primarily covered with species poor 
grassland and/or marsh grass. This is set in the wider landscape of the Moson Brook corridor 
which includes areas of woodland and wetland associated with the Brook as well as grassland 
areas with some species diversity in specific locations. 
 
The condition and quality are good-ordinary with the land concerned playing its part in a local 
wildlife and recreational corridor. 
 
The scenic quality of the Moston Brook corridor is mixed with urban areas being a regular part 
of the setting and views. The area of topsoil spread and the attenuation pond lie in an area 
strongly connected to local housing, the busy Broadway road, allotment areas and the new 
housing development. Although a green corridor through an urban area the park and land do 
not score highly with regards to scenic quality. 
 
The land and the Lower Memorial Park are not representative of a broader landscape 
typology although they do play a role as part of the Green Infrastructure Network for 
Manchester and Oldham. 
 
The land and park are not protected through any statutory designation or wildlife protection 
such as an SBI and have no dedicated heritage or conservation value. 
 
The Memorial Park has a recreational value but this is through limited formal rights of way 
relying on informal, permissive access across the whole area. 
 
The perceptual and associative aspects of the land are limited as the area of topsoil spread 
and attenuation pond was previously open grassland with no specific features or associations 
of note. Previously the land was used as a tip site with waste still present below the surface. 
 
Although the Lower Memorial Park has local value it scores only moderately with regard to 
the GLVIA3 test for landscape value. The land under consideration plays a role in this local 
value but is not distinguishable from any other part through any specific feature, element or 
characteristic. 
 
 
CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Following the construction of the attenuation pond and associated drainage and the 
spreading of topsoil the land will remain within a green corridor set within an urban area and 
no notable change to the broader landscape character of Oldham or the Moston Brook 
corridor will occur. 
 
The land will continue to act locally as an open area of land with an enhanced ecological value, 
within the Lower Memorial Park. 
 

Page 20Page 38



Access will be possible as before across open land with improvements to the formal path 
network in the park completed as part of the landscape and remediation works connected 
with the Bellway Homes development, the land swap and the formation of the attenuation 
pond on park land. The only barrier to free movement will be the attenuation pond itself but 
this does not lead to any loss of a recognised routeway. 
 
Re-grading of the topsoil mound with the feathering of edges and contours will help blend 
the soil into the existing contours and enable free movement across this area. 
 
The landscape value of the land is local and moderate. The creation of the attenuation pond 
adds a feature of potential ecological value which is of benefit rather than dis-benefit. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSION 
 
The topsoil areas should be re-profiled to feather down the edges of the mound to better 
blend this into the existing topography of the land. This should be then included into the final 
landscape remediation works for all the area and seeded/planted accordingly to return the 
land to a semi natural state. 
 
There will not be any loss of landscape value as a consequence of the completed and 
remediated attenuation pond and topsoil areas, nor will there be any loss of access. The 
potential for recreation use across the land post mitigation appear broadly the same as before 
the development. 
 
The works have led directly to improvements to access and path routes in other areas of the 
park and to an uplift to the habitat and ecological value of the land through the introduction 
of the attenuation pond. 
 

POND SAFETY 
 
The attenuation pond is designed to hold water only during flood events and for most of the 
year will remain largely dry with a wetland area at the base of the hollowed out space. There 
is a limited risk during such periods of flooding commensurate with that of any open area of 
water, and is in combination with the relatively steep sided banks to the pond. 
 
The attenuation area is not part of a path route or connecting trail and as such is not an area 
where access is directed. 
 
Attenuation ponds such as this are common features in both housing areas and other 
developments such as schools. Where access is enabled or unavoidable these areas are 
sometimes fenced with a simple post and rail fence, this has the double benefit of indicating 
restricted access to areas prone to flooding and of preventing disturbance to areas of possible 
future bird nesting and other wildlife habitats. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS 

Page 21Page 39



 
Although not presenting a large risk to safety, the addition of a boundary post and rail fence 
would dissuade access and protect an area of future wildlife potential from disturbance. This 
would be weighed against the loss of access to these areas within the park.  
 
Maintenance could be enabled through the addition of a locked gate within the post and rail 
fencing. 
 
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
This report sought to answer allegations from members of the Friends of Moston Brook Group 
through interrogating the following: 
 
- Consider the baseline landscape position both before and after the land swap and 

planning approval/development; 
 
- Consider the amenity and landscape value of the site before and after the formation 

of the attenuation pond, drainage easements and topsoil spread; and 
 
- Consider what risk the attenuation pond may form for the future users of Moston 

Brook. 
 
 
Landscape Character 
 
The landscape character of the wider area and more locally the Moston Brook corridor will 
not be altered through the works. Following completion of the landscape proposals the 
landscape will return to being a part of the wider Moston Brook green corridor with additional 
habitat and ecology potential offered through the construction of the attenuation pond. 
 
Access 
 
Access across the site prior to the works was open and permissive and non-formal with no 
defined path routes or footpaths. Following the completion of the landscape proposals there 
will be a small reduction in the potential area accessible by the public due to the attenuation 
pond but this is offset by the gains to ecology. The drain connections, easements and topsoil 
mounding will not prevent access as enjoyed prior to the work commencing. Further grading 
of the topsoil mound will allow for easy movement over this area and assist in helping this 
additional ground blend in appearance into the existing landscape of rough grassland and 
marsh grass. The key routeways through the site will be unaffected and the wider works and 
land swap have enabled improvements to this path network. 
 
Landscape Value 
 

Page 22Page 40



The landscape value attributable to the land is limited to local influence and moderate in 
scale. Following the completion of works the area of land covered by topsoil and attenuation 
pond will be returned to a state and landscaped so as to play a full role in maintaining the 
local value to the wider park and Moston Brook Corridor. 
 
Pond Safety 
 
The pond as it stands is designed to hold water only over very limited periods of time and for 
the majority of the year will have no standing water with a lower level likely to remain wet 
and plated with wetland plants to exploit this. The sides of the pond are relatively steep and, 
although a low risk, the potential remains for this to become a high risk feature during periods 
of flooding. The introduction of a post and rail fence around the pond area would substantially 
reduce this risk and improve the habitat potential for the area, lessening disturbance. 
 
Recommendations and Conclusion 
 
The assessment has highlighted two areas where further work would be beneficial in 
reintegrating the land back into the Lower Memorial Park and Moston Brook corridor, these 
are: 
 
1. The topsoil areas should be re-profiled to feather down the edges of the mound to 

better blend this into the existing topography of the land. This should be then included 
into the final landscape remediation works for all the area and seeded/planted 
accordingly to return the land to a semi natural state. 

 
2. The benefits and dis- benefits of fencing off the attenuation area with a timber post 

and rail fence should be considered, or other landscaping could be considered to 
create a natural barrier. 

 
The works and remaining easements and maintenance/management requirements, although 
an inconvenience while under construction, are capable of being returned to the wider park 
without any notable impact upon either the landscape character, landscape value or 
recreational amenity and opportunities that the land formerly offered.  
On completion of the proposed landscaping measures and the suggested further 
improvement works, the land areas can be integrated back into the Moston Brook corridor 
and play a full role in its position as open recreational land and green corridor for the benefit 
of local residents. 
 
I can find no justification for any level of dis-amenity to justify the Council requiring to further 
transfer land over to the Lower Memorial Park trust as compensation. 
 
In summary and conclusion therefore, it is my view and advice to the Charity Trustees that in 
order to adequately compensate the Charity for the loss of amenity regarding the attenuation 
pond and also for the value attributable to the facility to place the topsoil the Trustees should 

Page 23Page 41



consider implementing steps 1 and 2 above. It is not necessary in my view to gift additional 
land to the Charity. 
 
APPENDIX 
 
FIGURE 1 – Land Transfer Plan 
 
FIGURE 2 – Approved Drainage Easements Plan 
 
FIGURE 3 – Approved Attenuation Pond and Planting Plan Details 
 

 

Page 24Page 42



 

  6 

Appendix 1 
 
 

 

 

P
age 25

P
age 43



P
age 26

P
age 44



Page 27Page 45



P
age 28

P
age 46



Lower Memorial Park Consultation – Summary of Responses  October 2020 
 

Clarifications: 

 Each response can include more than one point/issue.  

 Not every respondent answered all questions. 

 Responses have been grouped into main issue areas/common themes.  

 In addition to the 99 Survey Monkey Responses, 30 paper copies have been 

received. 

    Summary of responses  Number  

1 What do you 
think about the 
landscape 
proposals?   
 

Looks good/very impressive/an improvement/support   
The area needs better access 
Plans Inadequate/Poor/Not good enough 
Need maintenance plans/regime 
Remove topsoil 
Area should be managed to Friends Group/Locals Residents 
No development needed/ area kept as Memorial Land 
Follow Ecologists’/Experts recommendations  
Don’t understand plans/cannot access them 

38 
5 
21 
2 
4 
5 
13 
4 
2 

   92 

1a Do you have any 
other suggestions 
for this area? 
 

No 
Use/obtain specialist ecologist advise 
Introduce Beehives 
More Trees 
Better footpath proposal/improved accessibility  
More housing is needed 
Discussions with Trust/Friends Group is required 
Use the area for community events 
More Play equipment/play area needed. 
Need better/more/improved planting proposals 
Recreational area for Dog owners 
More Benches and bins 
Turned into Picnic Area/Family Garden for children  
Made into an area for people to enjoy 
Create a smaller pond 

34 
7 
3 
7 
20 
1 
4 
3 
4 
11 
1 
6 
4 
2 
1 

   108 

2a Do you think the 
land along 
Broadway should 
become part of 
the Lower 
Failsworth 
Memorial Park 
Trust? 

Yes 
No 

111 
18 

   129 

b What would you 
like to see happen 
to this land if it 
does become part 
of the Trust? 

Used for affordable housing/more housing needed 
Left as nature/natural area 
Used for community events  
Hedgehog sanctuary 
Used to improve access to the park 

19 
59 
8 
1 
13 

Page 47



 Extend the allotments 
Sports facilities  
Seating provided 
Landscaping/planting improvements implemented 

5 
6 
1 
7 

   119 

3 How do you think 
the Attenuation 
Basin should be 
treated?   
EG the basin could 
be fenced off, 
natural barriers 
using soil could be 
created, safety 
signs could be 
erected, or it 
could be left as is. 

Left as it is/kept open 
More planting needed 
Fenced off 
Safety signs erected  
Reduced in size or removed altogether 
Natural barriers created 
Management regime needs to be provided  

36 
14 
27 
34 
6 
34 
3 
 

   154 

4 Are there any 
other changes 
you would like to 
see the Park and 
Land in the  
future? 
 

More Housing is needed 
Improved/additional footpaths 
Improved/more Play Areas 
More bins  
Cycle routes 
Used for public events 
No changes/keep it as it is 
Community Café 
Benches and seating provided 
More information on the land and signage 
Transferred/remain as part of the trust 
More trees and planting 
Turned into a gateway to Oldham 
Improve entrances and access points 

12 
25 
6 
4 
2 
4 
16 
2 
3 
6 
4 
7 
3 
8 

   100 

5 Do you have any 
other comments 
you would like to 
make about the 
Park and Land? 

Family Housing 
Kept as is/no further changes 
Better access points 
Trusteeship/control by local residents 
Better safety  
More use by local community 
Better signage 
More parking  

13 
48 
5 
6 
2 
2 
2 
2 

   80 

6 I am an Oldham 
resident      

Yes  
No  

92 
39 

7 I am a member of 
a local community 
group with an 
interest in the site      

Yes  
No  

50 
71 

8 I am a member of 
a Moston Brook 
stakeholder group        

Yes  
No  

8 
112 

Page 48



 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Lower Memorial Park Failsworth
	Trustees Report pack - 21.02.19
	Agenda
	6 Lower Memorial Park Failsworth
	App 4 - Charity Land report - Lower Memorial Park-landscape and amenity- TPM-16-12-2018


	App 4 - Lower Memorial Park Consultation Summary - Oct 20




